FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
12/13/2023  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington  
12/13/2023 11:36 AM

Comt of Appeals No. 849417

102644-7

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

---

SAN JUAN COUNTY,

*Respondent,*

v.

WASHINGTON COALITION FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT,

*Petitioner.*

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

William John Crittenden, #22033  
Attorney at Law  
12345 Lake City Way NE 306  
Seattle, Washington 98125-5401  
(206) 361-5972  
bill@billcrittenden.com

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Washington Coalition for Open Government (WCOG) seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

WCOG seeks review of the unpublished opinion in *San Juan County v. Washington Coalition for Open Government (WCOG)*, No. 84941-7-I, dated November 13, 2023. Appendix A.

## III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the County violated RCW 42.56.904 in response to WCOG's PRA request for attorney invoices by excessively redacting the invoices to withhold all descriptions of attorney work performed.

2. Whether the County's exemption logs, which merely recited redaction codes to explain the County's blanket redactions of all work performed, violated RCW 42.56.210(3) and RCW 42.56.904.

3. Whether the County's overt consideration of WCOG's identity as the requestor as a basis for withholding public records from WCOG violates RCW 42.56.080(2).

#### IV. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner WCOG seeks review of the unpublished opinion which affirmed the trial court's dismissal of WCOG's action against respondent San Juan County for violations of Public Records Act, Chap. 42.56 RCW ("PRA"). The County violated the PRA by (A) excessively redacting attorney invoices contrary to RCW 42.56.904, and (B) failing to explain how exemptions were applied to redacted records in violation of RCW 42.56.210(3) and RCW 42.56.904. The lower courts' rulings are based on an erroneous interpretation of RCW 42.56.904, a statute enacted by the 2007 legislature to significantly curtail the application of the existing attorney-client and work product privileges to government attorney invoices under the PRA. That section provides:

**Intent—2007 c 391.**

It is the intent of the legislature to clarify that no reasonable construction of chapter 42.56 RCW has ever allowed attorney invoices to be withheld in their entirety by any public entity in a request for documents under that chapter. **It is further the intent of the legislature that specific descriptions of work performed be redacted only if they would reveal an attorney's mental impressions, actual legal advice, theories, or opinions, or are otherwise exempt under chapter 391, Laws of 2007 or other laws, with the burden upon the public entity to justify each redaction and narrowly construe any exception to full disclosure.** The legislature intends to clarify that the public's interest in open, accountable government includes an accounting of any expenditure of public resources, including through liability insurance, upon private legal counsel or private consultants. (Emphasis added).

Laws of 2007, ch. 391, § 1; RCW 42.56.904.

The Court of Appeals erroneously upheld the County's blanket redaction of all descriptions of work performed in attorney invoices. The Court of Appeals' erroneous interpretation of RCW 42.56.904 contradicts the language and underlying policy of the statute, and renders the statutory language meaningless in violation of well-established principles of statutory construction.



This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the unpublished opinion below directly conflicts with this Court's opinion in *Yakima County v. Yakima Herald-Republic*, 170 Wn.2d 775, 797, 246 P.3d 768 (2011) and the Court of Appeals' opinion in *Asotin County v. Eggleston*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 143, 432 P.3d 1235 (2019). This Court should also grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the correct application of RCW 42.56.904 is an issue of substantial public interest that needs to be resolved by this Court.

## V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

**A. The 2007 legislature enacted RCW 42.56.904 to significantly curtail the application of the attorney-client and work product exemptions to government attorney invoices under the PRA.**

The PRA requires all state and local agencies to produce public records upon request by any person, subject to various exemptions codified in the PRA and other statutes. The original 1972 Public Disclosure Act incorporated the work product doctrine as a PRA exemption as follows:

(j) Records which are relevant to a controversy to which an agency is a party but which records would not be available to another party under the rules of pretrial discovery for causes pending in the superior courts.

Laws of 1973, ch. 1, §31(1)(j); former RCW 42.17.310(1)(j); *see Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wn.2d 595, 612, 963 P.2d 869 (1998). The same exemption is now codified at RCW 42.56.290. Under *Hangartner v. Seattle*, 151 Wn.2d 439, 451, 90 P.3d 26 (2004), the attorney-client privilege is also incorporated into the PRA as an exemption and subject to redaction. Prior to 2007 attorney invoices were subject to redaction as work product under RCW 42.56.290.

In 2006 Thurston County refused to produce invoices for private attorneys who spent more than \$250,000 on the defense of a discrimination lawsuit brought by deputy prosecutors. *See West v. Thurston County*, 168 Wn. App. 162, 168, 275 P.3d 1200 (2012). In 2007, the legislature responded by enacting RCW 42.56.904 to limit the application of the existing work product exemption to attorney invoices. The legislature clarified that

public attorney invoices are important public records, and set forth specific requirements for redacting such invoices.

The complete text of the RCW 42.56.904, separated into one-sentence paragraphs for readability, is as follows:

**Intent—2007 c 391.**

It is the intent of the legislature to clarify that no reasonable construction of chapter 42.56 RCW has ever allowed attorney invoices to be withheld in their entirety by any public entity in a request for documents under that chapter.

It is further the intent of the legislature that specific descriptions of work performed be redacted only if they would reveal an attorney's mental impressions, actual legal advice, theories, or opinions, or are otherwise exempt under chapter 391, Laws of 2007 or other laws, with the burden upon the public entity to justify each redaction and narrowly construe any exception to full disclosure.

The legislature intends to clarify that the public's interest in open, accountable government includes an accounting of any expenditure of public resources, including through liability insurance, upon private legal counsel or private consultants.

Laws of 2007, ch. 391, § 1; RCW 42.56.904.

SHB 1897 was supported by, *inter alia*, the Washington Attorney General, WCOG and the Allied Daily Newspapers of

Washington. SHB 1897 House Bill Report (2007); **Appendix B** at 3-4. Supporters of increased transparency explained that the public has the right to know how government legal fees are spent, that attorney invoices can be disclosed without harming agencies in litigation, and that lawyers representing agencies are not acting as private attorneys but as government officials. *Id.* at 3.

Opposition to SHB 1897 was limited to a small group of private, for-profit defense attorneys who represent government agencies, including attorney Jeff Myers, who is the attorney for San Juan County in this case. SHB 1897 House Bill Report; **Appendix B** at 3. These private defense attorneys testified against SHB 1897 precisely because the bill would require agencies to disclose information in attorney invoices that these defense attorneys asserted would have been privileged or work product under existing common law:

(Opposed) The amount of the attorney invoices should be disclosed. That is accountability. The concern with the bill, however, is that the Public Records Act is not intended to create an advantage to one side in litigation involving government

entities. This bill tilts the playing field in favor of those suing government by narrowing the scope of what courts have considered to be work product. This bill only includes a portion of what is typically considered work product. The best place to determine what is work product is in the courts. The entire sentence, starting at the end of line seven should be deleted from the bill. Or, the bill should be amended to include the entire definition of work product.

*Id.*; **Appendix B** at 3.

The original bill, HB 1897 (1/31/07), did not include the phrase “or are otherwise exempt under chapter 391, Laws of 2007 or other laws.”<sup>1</sup> However, at the hearing the committee became aware that attorney invoices might contain exempt information other than privileged communications or work product., such as credit card numbers. **Appendix B** at 34-35. Supporters explained that such information could also be redacted. *Id.* Consequently, after the hearing, SHB 1897 amended the bill to include the phrase “or are otherwise exempt

---

<sup>1</sup> Available online at <https://lawfilesexternal.wa.gov/biennium/2007-08/Pdf/Bills/House%20Bills/1897.pdf#page=1> (last visited May 29, 2023).

under this act or other laws” to incorporate PRA exemptions

*other than* privilege and work product:

It is further the intent of the legislature that specific descriptions of work performed be redacted only if they would reveal an attorney’s mental impressions, actual legal advice, theories, or opinions, or are otherwise exempt under this act or other laws, with the burden upon the public entity to justify each redaction and narrowly construe any exception to full disclosure.<sup>2</sup>

CP 312. This amendment incorporated other PRA exemptions, such as credit card numbers under RCW 42.56.230(5), that might apply to attorney invoices.<sup>3</sup>

The 2007 legislature rejected the self-serving concerns of private defense attorneys and enacted SHB 1897 by overwhelming majorities of 94 to 2, and 44 to 4. *Id.* at 1. In other words, the handful of private defense attorneys, at whom

---

<sup>2</sup> Available online at <https://lawfilesexternal.wa.gov/biennium/2007-08/Pdf/Bills/House%20Bills/1897-S.pdf#page=1> (last visited May 29, 2023).

<sup>3</sup> For example, attorney Myers’ invoice dated December 31, 2020 (above) included his law firm’s corporate tax ID number, which was redacted. CP 86. WCOG does *not* object to narrow redaction of this sort of exempt information.

the bill was aimed, decisively lost their anti-PRA policy arguments sixteen years ago.

**B. RCW 42.56.904 functioned as intended for thirteen (13) years, with no agency disputing the purpose or effect of that statute.**

Since 2007 virtually all state and local agencies have understood RCW 42.56.904 means exactly what it says: descriptions of attorney work performed are *not* exempt from disclosure under the PRA, except in narrow circumstances where they disclose attorney mental impressions, privileged advice, or information subject to another PRA exemption. Here is an example of an invoice from attorney Jeff Myers that WCOG obtained from the Washington Counties Risk Pool (WCRP) for a case in which attorney Myers was representing respondent San Juan County, appropriately disclosing most of the descriptions of work performed:

LAW, LYMAN DANIEL, KAMMERER & BOGDANOVICH, P.S. ATTORNEYS AT LAW		Billing Address: 70 West 118th Olympia, WA 98501		Washington Counties Risk Pool		Page 2 January 31, 2016 Client ID: WCRP-023 Statement No: 4	
3100 COMMERCIAL SUITE 1000 2548 19th Avenue West Dr. Suite 100 Tacoma, WA 98409		2570 9th Avenue East 2nd Fl Tacoma, WA 98512		Administrative Services and Finance Offices Claims # 522015009249 Event date 01/22/15 Orthopedic S. Linn			
Suzanne Linn Washington Counties Risk Pool 2548 19th Avenue West Dr. Suite 100 Tacoma, WA 98409		Page 1 January 31, 2016 Client ID: WCRP-023 Statement No: 4				Rate Hours	
Abilities vs San Juan County and Marshall Gaylord Claim # 522015009249 (Jan 15) EL (2) Event date 01/22/15 Christopher S. Linn		WCRP FEB 02 2016 RECEIVED \$4,688.79					
Prepaid Balance		Rate		Hours			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	1.40	261.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	3.40	339.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	2.95	317.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.88	1,204.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.21	45.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	1.80	322.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.50	107.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.40	83.00			
Total Fees				42.50		11,212.00	
Expenses							
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.30	63.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.30	1,204.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.79	1,225.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.80	1,247.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.00	90.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.40	1,216.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	2.70	898.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	2.40	712.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	2.80	774.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.40	370.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.30	187.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.21	43.00			
1/15/2015	JM	215.00	0.50	107.00			
Relates Due						811,099.00	
Billing History							
Rate	Hours	Expenses	Advances	Finance Charge	Payments		
26,136.00	151.00	468.00	380.75	0.00	18,328.88		

CP 117.<sup>4</sup>

RCW 42.56.904 functioned as intended for thirteen (13) years, with no agency or court disputing the obvious purpose and legal effect of that statute. In 2011, this Court correctly noted that RCW 42.56.904 restricted the application of the work product doctrine in RCW 42.56.290 to attorney invoices:

[T]he legislature enacted RCW 42.56.904 as a result of the *West/Broyles* litigation to clarify that discovery rules, as they applied to attorney fees paid

<sup>4</sup> WCOG does *not* concede that even the limited redactions in this WCRP invoice were appropriate under RCW 42.56.904, but WCRP is not the defendant agency in this case.



by a public agency, do not exempt attorney fee invoices in their entirety under the PRA.

*Yakima County*, 170 Wn.2d at 797. The unpublished opinion directly conflicts with this Court's decision in *Yakima Herald* by allowing blanket redaction of attorney invoices.

In *Asotin County*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 143, the county brought a lawsuit against the requestor seeking to enjoin the release of its own attorney invoices. But the County merely provided the unredacted invoices to the trial court without suggesting any particular redactions. *Id.* at 147. After the trial court ordered the county to propose specific redactions to its invoice the County finally complied with RCW 42.56.904 by narrowly redacting its invoices:

[T]he County's redactions are very narrowly tailored to prevent the disclosure of only those minimal references from which one could conceivably deduce an attorney's mental impressions, legal advice, theories, or opinions.

*Id.* at 149. On appeal, the trial court reversed the trial court's erroneous determination that the requestor was not the prevailing

party for purposes of attorney's fees and penalties, noting that RCW 42.56.904 "could hardly be clearer" and that:

Mr. Eggleston consistently allowed for the possibility that the county's invoices might contain legitimately exempt information. He opposed (1) the county's attempt to enjoin any production and (2) its failure to undertake a good faith effort to redact exempt information until ordered to do so by the court.

*Id.* at 155. The unpublished opinion in this case, allowing blanket redaction of attorney invoices, is directly contrary to Division III's opinion in *Asotin County*.

**C. WCOG requested San Juan County's attorney invoices for *Kilduff v. San Juan County*, 194 Wn.2d 859, 862, 453 P.3d 719 (2019).**

In 2015 San Juan County enacted an invalid local ordinance that purported to require PRA requestors to exhaust "administrative remedies" before bringing a lawsuit under the PRA. In *Kilduff v. San Juan County*, 194 Wn.2d 859, 871-872, 453 P.3d 719 (2019) this Court held 9 to 0 that the County had no legal authority to modify the PRA by local ordinance. WCOG, represented by undersigned counsel, appeared as amicus

curiae in *Kilduff*, correctly explaining that the County had no authority to enact the regulation.

Rather than having deputy prosecutors defend the county's ordinance, the prosecutor hired outside counsel, paying more than \$100,000 to unsuccessfully defend the County's illegal attack on the PRA. CP 54-77. After this Court's *Kilduff* opinion was published, WCOG sought to investigate San Juan County's wasteful use of outside counsel in PRA cases.

In April 2020 WCOG made a PRA request for invoices and other public records relating to the *Kilduff* case:

All invoices, contracts, correspondence, notes, bids, proposals, records relating to conflicts of interest, meeting minutes, and any other records relating to the County's use of outside counsel in *Kilduff v. San Juan County* (in any court).

CP 7, 51-53. In response, the County produced, *inter alia*, eighty-one (81) pages of excessively redacted invoices from the *San Juan County v. Kilduff* case. The County redacted *all* of the narrative descriptions of work performed by the attorneys, replacing such descriptions with the code "1C, 2:"



this lawsuit seeking a declaratory ruling that the County was not required to produce emails in a PST file (even though it could easily have done so).<sup>5</sup> WCOG brought this PRA case as a counterclaim against the County for excessively redacting the invoices in violation of RCW 42.56.904 and for failing to produce adequate exemption logs. CP 22-30

WCOG moved for partial summary judgment that the County violated the PRA by (i) excessively redacting attorney invoices contrary to RCW 42.56.904, and (ii) failing to explain how exemptions were applied to redacted records in violation of RCW 42.56.210(3). CP 34-43. In response, the County (i) ignored the actual language of RCW 42.56.904, (ii) took bits of legislative history out of context, (iii) cited numerous inapplicable non-Washington authorities, (iv) complained about WCOG in direct violation of RCW 42.56.080(2), and (v) falsely

---

<sup>5</sup> WCOG chose to not litigate the PST email issue that caused San Juan County to sue WCOG in the first place. CP 22. Only WCOG's PRA counterclaims are at issue in this case.

asserted that the application of RCW 42.56.210(3) to attorney invoices had already been addressed in an earlier unpublished opinion involving WCOG. CP 260. The County repeated the same self-serving policy arguments, using the exact same tropes about “unfair advantage” and “uneven playing field,” that the 2007 legislature rejected sixteen (16) years ago. CP 152.

The County also submitted a declaration in which its prosecutor admitted that all the descriptions of work performed were redacted from the invoices by a clerk pursuant to pre-existing instructions, and that such blanket redactions were based, *not* on RCW 42.56.904 (2007), but on what the prosecutor claimed to have learned more than thirty (30) years ago as a private attorney representing private clients. CP 223-230. It is undisputed that the review and redaction explicitly required by RCW 42.56.904 was never performed.

In reply, WCOG explained that the County’s interpretation of RCW 42.56.904 rendered the statutory text

meaningless, in violation of basic principles of statutory construction:

The County's assertion that this statutory text allows blanket redaction of all descriptions of work performed—blanket redactions performed by a clerk without any actual review of the content by an attorney—is absurd. If the County were correct then the statutory text highlighted above would be meaningless.

CP 266.

In February 2022 the trial court issued orders (i) denying WCOG's motion for partial summary judgment and (ii) ordering *in camera* review over the County's objections. CP 316-319. Neither order explained how the trial court had interpreted and applied RCW 42.56.904. *Id.*

In September 2022 the trial court erroneously upheld the County's redactions, issuing an order, drafted by the County, that again made no attempt to explain how RCW 42.56.904 had been interpreted and applied by the trial court. CP 359.

WCOG moved for reconsideration, again explaining that the County's interpretation of RCW 42.56.904 rendered that

statute meaningless. CP 367-368. The County made no attempt to argue otherwise, cited the same irrelevant cases as before, and repeated the same policy arguments that the 2007 legislature had already rejected. CP 396-400, 407.

The trial court denied reconsideration. The trial court's order did not even cite 42.56.904, much less explain how the trial court had interpreted that statute to uphold the County's blanket redactions of the County's invoices. CP 414.

**E. The Court of Appeals misinterpreted RCW 42.56.904, adopting an erroneous interpretation that ignores the obvious purpose of the statute and renders the statutory text meaningless.**

WCOG appealed, explaining in its opening brief that the trial court's erroneous interpretation of RCW 42.56.904 rendered the actual language of the statute meaningless. *App. Br.* at 17-25. Once again the County's brief ignored the issue of proper statutory construction, relying instead on inapplicable cases and policy arguments that the 2007 legislature had already rejected in enacting RCW 42.56.904. *Resp. Br.* at 8, 30, 44-48. WCOG's reply brief noted that the County was "unable to explain how its



interpretation [of RCW 42.56.904] gives any effect to the statutory text.” *Reply Br.* at 15.

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