FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/12/2024 1:46 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1026447

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAN JUAN COUNTY,

Respondent,

v.

WASHINGTON COALITION FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT,

Appellant

RESPONDENT SAN JUAN COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JEFFREY S. MYERS
Law, Lyman, Daniel, Kamerrer
& Bogdanovich, P.S.
P.O. Box 11880
Olympia, WA 98508
(360) 754-3480
jmyers@lldkb.com
Attorney for Respondent San
Juan County

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY SUPREME COURT CASE WARRANTING REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(1).

WCOG first argues that the court should grant review because it conflicts with this Court's opinion in *Yakima County v. Yakima Herald-Republic*, 170 Wn.2d 775, 246 P.3d 768 (2011). Because that case did not interpret the redaction provisions of RCW 42.56.904, there is no conflict presented by the Court of Appeals opinion at issue here.

Yakima Herald involved an issue of whether the PRA applied to a request for invoices from a public defender's expert

in a capital murder case which were requested from the county. The court first determined that the PRA did not apply to invoices held by the court, which is not an agency under the PRA. 170 Wn.2d at 792. In so ruling, the court rejected the Herald's argument that RCW 42.56.904, which clarified that attorney fee invoices are not to be withheld in their entirety under the PRA, would be rendered meaningless unless the PRA applies to these court records. 170 Wn.2d at 796. This argument is similar to the argument rejected by the Court of Appeals in this case. The Court rejected this argument finding that RCW 42.56.904 did not alter the PRA's definition of "agency" which did not include the judiciary. 170 Wn.2d at 798.

Next, *Yakima Herald* agreed that the PRA, and specifically RCW 42.56.904 required production of outside attorney's invoices held by non-court offices of the County, overruling the trial court. 170 Wn.2d at 804-805. In so ruling, the court stated:

Finally, and of particular significance here, RCW 42.56.904 requires the county to produce attorney invoices, if any, which are held outside the court, subject to the limitations of that provision.

Yakima Herald, 170 Wn.2d at 806 (emphasis added).

Yakima Herald primarily determined that the PRA did not apply to invoices held by the court or judicial entities but did apply to records held by entities outside the court. Yakima Herald did not address what the "limitations" of RCW 42.56.904 are or how they would be applied, which is the issue addressed by the Court of Appeals opinion here. Because there is no dispute that the PRA applies to the invoices, Yakima Herald does not apply further. The Court of Appeals Opinion does not conflict with this Court's ruling that invoices held by agencies outside the court must produce them "subject to the limitations of [RCW 42.56.904]."

WCOG contends that there is a conflict with this Court's ruling in *Yakima Herald* by allowing "blanket redaction" of invoices. PFR at 12. WCOG falsely characterizes both *Yakima*

Herald holding and the Court of Appeals Opinion here. The Opinion here noted the fact that San Juan County did not redact the invoices "in their entirety" in multiple places. Opinion at 4, 5, 6, 8. Yakima Herald similarly held that invoices held by non-judicial agencies must be produced and cannot be withheld "in their entirety". 170 Wn.2d at 806, n. 16. Yakima Herald did not discuss the permissible scope of redactions or articulate a prohibition on "blanket redactions."

WCOG cites only *Yakima Herald's* statement that RCW 42.56.904 was adopted "to clarify that discovery rules, as they applied to attorney fees paid by a public agency, do not exempt attorney fee invoices <u>in their entirety</u> under the PRA." PFR at 11-12, quoting *Yakima Herald*, 170 Wn.2d at 797 (emphasis added). *Yakima Herald* confirms what the Opinion ruled: that the PRA does not exempt attorney invoices "in their entirety." It did not discuss what redactions were proper, which was the issue in the Opinion.

WCOG's assertion that the Opinion conflicts with Yakima Herald's restriction on "blanket redactions," PFR at 12, mischaracterizes and ignores the actual holding of the Opinion which agrees with Yakima Herald that invoices may not be withheld "in their entirety". Opinion at 4, 5, 6, 8. Yakima Herald never mentions "blanket redactions", much less establishes a prohibition on "blanket redactions". The scope of what may be redacted in invoices was simply not before the Court. Moreover, in this case, the County did not make "blanket redactions" as it fully disclosed all the financial details on the invoices. There is no conflict, as the Opinion follows *Yakima Herald* and addresses issues that this Court was not presented with as to how work product and privilege exemptions should be applied.

Yakima Herald found that redacted invoices were subject to the "limitations" of RCW 42.56.904. This case, unlike Yakima Herald, considered application of those limitations. The cases do not conflict as they were considered different things. The court should not grant review based on RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION DOES NOT CONLFICT WITH ANY PUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS WARRANTING REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(2).

WCOG next argues that the Opinion conflicts with a published decision of Court of Appeals Division III in *Asotin County v. Eggleston*, 7 Wn.App.2d 143, 432 P.3d 1235 (2019). The issue decided by the Court of Appeals was not the scope of redactions permitted by RCW 42.56.904, but whether a requester who had not filed suit could be a prevailing party for attorney's fee purposes. 7 Wn.App.2d at 146. Eggleston's appeal was to the denial of his motion for attorney's fees., Id. at 149.

Asotin County presented three issues for review, which the court stated as:

Three issues are presented: whether a record requester must have filed a complaint or motion for affirmative relief in order to be a prevailing party, whether Mr. Eggleston was the prevailing party, and whether the court abused its discretion in refusing to consider a penalty award.

Asotin County, 7 Wn.App.2d at 150.

Even at the trial court level, there is no conflict between the Opinion here and *Asotin County*. *Asotin County* involved an injunction action seeking to enjoin disclosure of invoices in a pending lawsuit in their entirety. *Asotin County*, 7 Wn.App.2d at 147. Alternatively, the County requested the Court (not the County) to redact the records. The trial court first held that the invoices were not entirely exempt, which is consistent with the Opinion here, and denied Asotin County's request for an injunction.

Next, the trial court held that it was improper for Asotin County to request that the Court make the redactions, because that burden was placed on the County to propose its redactions, which the court ordered the County to do. *Id.* at 148-149. The trial court then ordered disclosure of the invoices with the redactions proposed by the County pursuant to RCW 42.56.290, which it found appropriate to protect mental impressions, legal advice, theories, or opinions. *Id.* at 149. The trial court did not decide whether more broad redactions would be consistent with

exemptions under the PRA, including RCW 42.56.290, which exempts records not subject to discovery under the civil rules, such as work product and attorney client privileged information.

Specifically relevant here, the *Asotin County* appellate decision addressed whether denial of the requester's motion for attorney's fees was appropriate and did not address the scope of permissible redactions under RCW 42.56.904. *Asotin County* held that the requester prevailed on significant issues, including the requirement that the County, not the Court had the burden to propose redactions. *Asotin County*, 7 Wn.App.2d at 153-154. Because the court denied the requested injunction to entirely withhold the invoices and agreed with the requester on the County's duty to propose redactions, *Asotin County* held that the requester was a prevailing party entitled to attorney's fees. *Id.*, at 155.

In its discussion of what the requester prevailed upon, the court noted that he prevailed in the argument that the County was not entitled to an injunction and was not entitled to treat the

invoices as "entirely exempt." *Asotin County*, 7 Wn.App.2d at 154. This is the same result is followed by the Opinion here, which also acknowledges that the invoices are not entirely exempt. Opinion at 6. Here, as the Opinion found, San Juan County did not redact the invoices in their entirety, but fully disclosed the amounts billed, the hours worked, the identity of the billing attorneys, the hourly rates charged – the very financial information that RCW 42.56.904 demands to provide accountability for government expenditures when it states:

The legislature intends to clarify that the public's interest in open, accountable government includes an accounting of any expenditure of public resources, including through liability insurance, upon private legal counsel or private consultants.

RCW 42.56.904 (emphasis added).

Asotin County also agreed that Eggleston prevailed on the issue that it was the burden of the County to propose good faith redactions before submitting them to the court, not the court's responsibility. Asotin County, 7 Wn.App.2d at 154. In this case, San Juan County made good faith redactions that the Court then

reviewed *in camera*, finding that they were proper and that the descriptions of the work performed was exempt under both the work product and attorney client privileges. Opinion at 8.

The Opinion also does not conflict with how the trial court in *Asotin County* applied RCW 42.56.904. The plain language of RCW 42.56.904 contains six clauses where redaction of the descriptions of work performed is allowed, each separated by in the disjunctive term "or". The language of RCW 42.56.904, as enacted, provides as follows:

It is further the intent of the legislature that specific descriptions of work performed be redacted only if they would reveal

- [1] an attorney's mental impressions,
- [2] actual legal advice,
- [3] theories, or
- [4] opinions, or
- [5] are otherwise exempt under this act or
- [6] other laws, ...

(Emphasis added).

There is no conflict with *Asotin County*, including the trial court's ruling which was not reviewed on appeal. In *Asotin County*, the trial court approved redactions under clauses 1-4 above. The Opinion here relied on the plain language of clauses 5-6 to fully protect descriptions protected by work product under RCW 42.56.290 and the attorney-client privilege, which is an "other statute". Opinion at 8. Since they relied on different parts of RCW 42.56.904, there is no conflict between the Court of Appeals Opinion and the trial court's ruling in *Asotin County*.

WCOG's repeated claim that the Opinion conflicts with *Asotin County v. Eggleston* because it allows "blanket redactions" fails primarily because the Court of Appeals only addressed attorney's fee issues, not the scope of redactions permitted by RCW 42.56.904 under the work product and attorney-client privilege. There is not even a conflict with the trial court's ruling. Because there is no conflict with the Opinion issued in this case, the Court should not grant review based on RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. APPLICATION OF WORK PRODUCT AND ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGES TO REDACT ATTORNEY INVOICES DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST WARRANTING REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(4).

WCOG twice states, without explanation, that the correct interpretation of RCW 42.56.904 is an issue of substantial public interest meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). PFR at 4, 26. WCOG fails to explain why it is an issue of substantial public interest and offers no supporting argument for this conclusory statement.

In this case, no party is contesting whether work product or attorney-client privilege applies to attorney invoices under the PRA. The County agrees with the holding of *Yakima Herald* that its invoices are subject to disclosure, and further agrees that invoices cannot be redacted in their entirety. In order to provide the financial accountability sought by RCW 42.56.904, it is undisputed that the County fully disclosed the amounts expended in the Kilduff litigation in these invoices. It fully disclosed the

hours spent by its attorneys, the identities of attorneys billing for their services and the rates charged by those attorneys.

This case applied well-established legal privileges that preclude discovery of invoices. Indeed, WCOG relied on these same privileges when it refused to produce its own invoices during discovery. This case followed the well established process for trial courts to apply work product and attorney client privilege claimed in records, by conducting an *in camera* review. RCW 42.56.550(3). The Court of Appeals conducted its own de novo review. Opinion at 5. In total, four judges (the trial judge and all three members of the Court of Appeals panel) unanimously agreed that the County properly redacted material protected by work product and attorney-client privileges in the invoices produced to WCOG. They unanimously agreed that the redactions protect material privileged against discovery that is exempt under RCW 42.56.290 and which is therefore "otherwise exempt" under the PRA and "other laws" as set forth in RCW 42.56.904. This is not an issue of significant public interest.

The Court of Appeals Opinion correctly applied the plain language of the PRA in applying both the provisions of the exemption in RCW 42.56.290 and the terms of RCW 42.56.904. The court held that the language plainly allows redaction of material that is "otherwise exempt" under the PRA or "other laws." Opinion at 10. The Court correctly held that one such "other law" is RCW 42.56.290 which allows redaction of material not discoverable under the civil rules as work product or attorney client privileged. *Id*.

WCOG repeatedly urged court to follow plain meaning of RCW 42.56.904 (at least as it was originally drafted prior to Hunt Amendment which added the phrase "or are otherwise exempt under this act or other laws." CP. See Opening Brief of Appellant at 14-15, 21-23. However, its argument misstates the statute and misquotes the significant language.

In the petition for review, at 25, WCOG is forced to misquote the statute to reach its desired conclusion. There, WCOG misquotes the final language of RCW 42.56.904, placing

a period after the word "opinions" where the statute continues on to say, "or are otherwise exempt under this act or other laws".² WCOG can only reach its desired reading by omitting this statutory language (the Hunt Amendment). This omission allows WCOG to invent a limitation on work product that is not written in the statute. The language, as finally adopted plainly allows redaction for any material "otherwise exempt" under the PRA or "other laws," including all forms of work product or attorney-client privileged communications, which is protected under the attorney-client privilege statute, RCW 5.56.060(2), which has been held by this Court to be an "other law" restricting disclosure. *Hangartner v. City of Seattle*, 151 Wn.2d 439, 90 P.3d 26 (2004).

_

² Following the hearing on HB 1897 by the House Committee on State Government & Tribal Affairs, Rep. Hunt, a co-sponsor authored an amendment ("the Hunt Amendment") to the original language to add this language to address concerns about not fully addressing privilege and work product exemptions. CP 312. The amended version, SHB 1897, was ultimately passed. Nevertheless, WCOG quotes the language originally proposed, not as amended.

In addition to omitting the key language in its quote on page at 25of the PFR, WCOG also adds language not found in the statute to reach its desired meaning when stating its interpretation of RCW 42.56.904 on page 9 of the PFR. In stating its interpretation of RCW 42.56.904, WCOG adds limiting language "other than privilege and work product" to explain what "other laws" means. PFR at 9. No such limitation is used by the Legislature. The Court correctly disregarded this argument and applied the plain meaning of the statute, in full context with other exemptions in the PRA. The Opinion correctly applied the statute as written according to its plain language in harmony with and giving effect to "all of the relevant statutory language." Opinion at 6.

Because WCOG is forced to twist and distort the plain language of RCW 42.56.904 to reach its interpretation, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected these arguments. The Opinion correctly applies the plain meaning rule and does not err in its

statutory interpretation. Thus, there is no reason to grant review of the Opinion.

Finally, WCOG includes two additional arguments alleging error in approving the County's explanation of its claimed exemption and alleging improper consideration of the identity of the requester. It does not argue that either alleged error is an issue of substantial public interest.

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